
Date Published:20 September 2021     

Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel

Tuesday 28 September 2021 at 10.00 am

Virtual Meeting - Web ex meeting

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Andrea Clarke

2  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 6) Andrea Clarke

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

Andrea Clarke

4  UPDATE ON RECENT ACTIVITY - OFFICE OF THE POLICE AND 
CRIME COMMISSIONER 

The Panel to receive a verbal update.

Richard Bradley, 
PCC Chris 
Nelson

5  DRAFT POLICE AND CRIME PLAN (Pages 7 - 48)

The Police and Crime Plan is currently out for public consultation. 

The Panel to review and comment on the draft plan.

PCC Chris 
Nelson

6  E SCOOTERS - THE GLOUCESTERSHIRE POISTION (Pages 49 - 52) PCC Chris 
Nelson

7  THE FUTURE OF THE MOUNTED POLICE 

The Panel to receive a verbal update.

PCC Chris 
Nelson

8  PANEL WORKPLAN (Pages 53 - 54) Andrea Clarke, 
Cllr Jonny 
Brownsteen

FUTURE MEETINGS

3 November 2021
4 February 2022



    

25 March 2022

All meetings start at 10.00am and are held in Shire Hall, Gloucester.

Membership –  Cllr Joe Harris, Cllr Sajid Patel, Cllr Steve Robinson (Vice-Chair) and 
Cllr Brian Tipper Cllr Ray Brassington, Cllr Jonny Brownsteen (Chairman), Cllr Philip Burford, Cllr 
David Gray, Cllr Dawn Melvin and Cllr Martin Pearcy
Independent Members - William Alexander (Independent Member) and Martin Smith (Independent 
member)

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests 
or personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be 
discussed at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  
Completing this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent 
members from declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list 
will be available for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Rob Ayliffe Tel: 01452 328506 e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324204 e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 324203) to make the necessary arrangements
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the
meeting. 

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL
MINUTES of a meeting of the Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel held on Wednesday 7 July 
2021 at the Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
William Alexander
Cllr Jonny Brownsteen
Cllr Philip Burford
Cllr David Gray
Cllr Dawn Melvin

Cllr Sajid Patel
Cllr Martin Pearcy
Cllr Steve Robinson
Cllr Brian Tipper

Substitutes: Cllr David Brown (In place of Cllr Joe Harris)
Cllr Jenny Forde (In place of Cllr Ray Brassington)

Others in attendance: Chris Nelson – Police and Crime Commissioner
Nick Evans – Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner
Ruth Greenwood – Deputy Chief Executive Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner 

1. ELECTION OF CHAIRPERSON 
Cllr Jonny Brownsteen was elected Chairperson for the year 2021/2022.

2. ELECTION OF VICE CHAIRPERSON 
Cllr Steve Robinson was elected Vice Chairperson for the year 2021/2022.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
No declarations were received. 

4. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
The minutes of the meeting on Tuesday 23 March 2021 were agreed as a correct record 
and signed by the Chairperson.

It was agreed that a letter be sent to Martin Surl thanking him for his work as Police and 
Crime Commissioner for Gloucestershire.
ACTION: Chairperson

5. POLICE AND CRIME PANEL: TERMS OF REFERENCE 
The Panel noted the terms of reference.

6. POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER - INTRODUCTION AND UPDATE 
6.1 The Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) informed members that he wanted to have a 

constructive working relationship with the Panel, and be as non party political as possible. 
The PCC indicated that he was keen to supply the Panel with all the information that it 
needed in order to be able to do its job.

6.2 The Deputy Chief Executive Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC) gave a 
detailed presentation on the role of the PCC and the OPCC (please note - the presentation 
slides were included in the agenda pack for the meeting). 

6.3 In response to questions the PCC informed the Panel that he did not mind what issues the 
Panel raised; as local members they were aware of the issues that were of concern to their 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

constituents. It was agreed that any (local) concerns that members have to be directed to 
the Clerk to the Panel in the first instance. 

6.4 It was also explained that the PCC had decided to honour ongoing commitments made by 
the Commissioners Fund, but had paused any consideration of future donations; this pause 
was to enable the PCC to establish whether he wished to consider funding community 
projects in this way. 

6.5 The PCC informed the Panel that having campaigned across all Gloucestershire districts 
he felt that he had a good understanding of how the people of Gloucestershire feel about 
crime and policing. He was working to identify where savings could be made and the 
funding more effectively utilised. Anti Social Behaviour (ASB) was a key part of his 
manifesto, as was improving the wait time for 101 calls. The PCC was taking a public 
health approach to crime. 

6.6 The PCC was keen to work closely with the county council and the Gloucestershire Fire 
and Rescue Service (GFRS) to develop a good working relationship, building on areas of 
synergy. One of the initiatives that the PCC was considering was the potential for small 
police points within fire stations; this would increase the police footprint and could be 
particularly beneficial for the more rural areas. 

6.7 The PCC wanted to increase the number of special constables; he wanted them to come 
from the community and remain deployed in the community, not be regularly deployed to 
emergencies. He also wanted to enhance the neighbourhood watch scheme. The 
recruitment process had already commenced. 

6.8 Members welcomed the activity in place to support dog theft and the recent addition of the 
doggy DNA initiative. Given the cost associated with the DNA initiative the PCC indicated 
that this could be something that could be picked up in the Community Fund in future to 
support people on low incomes. 

6.9 It was questioned how the PCC would implement the zero tolerance on ASB; the PCC 
indicated that he was still working through issues; in particular identifying potential savings 
for the ‘pot of gold’, which could support an increase in the number of police officers on the 
beat.

6.10 A member commented that more police officers on the beat was not practical in areas such 
as the Cotswolds. They also commented that the issue of domestic abuse had not as yet 
been raised; in the Cotswolds area a network of domestic abuse champions was being 
developed, and would include working with the perpetrators as well as the victims. 

6.11 A member also stated that people living in rural areas considered themselves to be second 
class citizens when it came to policing. The PCC stated that rural crime was a priority in his 
manifesto; he would also head up the Regional Organised Crime Unit for Rural Crime in 
the South West region. The commitment to the rural areas was welcomed. 

6.12 The Chairperson stated that in order to competently scrutinise the PCC it would be 
important for the Panel to know more of the detail associated with the manifesto 
commitments. It would also be important to understand where the money for the pot of gold 
has come from; each year we have been told that there was no extra money and therefore 
the precept must be increased. It would be important to identify baselines and targets. The 
PCC indicated that he had raised this matter with the Police.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

7. OFFICE OF THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER - CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
REPORT 
The Panel noted the report.

8. PANEL WORK PLAN 
It was agreed that any items that members wanted included on the work plan to be sent to 
the Clerk to the Panel.

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 12.36 pm

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL
MINUTES of a meeting of the Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel held on Wednesday 7 July 
2021 at the Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
William Alexander
Cllr Jonny Brownsteen
Cllr Philip Burford
Cllr David Gray
Cllr Dawn Melvin

Cllr Sajid Patel
Cllr Martin Pearcy
Cllr Steve Robinson
Martin Smith
Cllr Brian Tipper

Substitutes: Cllr Jenny Forde (In place of Cllr Ray Brassington)

Others in attendance: Chris Nelson – Police and Crime Commissioner 
Nick Evans – Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner
Ruth Greenwood – Deputy Chief Executive Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner (OPCC)

Apologies: Cllr Joe Harris

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
No declarations of interest were received. 

Cllr Burford, Forest of Dean District Council (FoDDC), had raised concerns ahead of the 
meeting that as the candidate was also a member of the FoDDC that there might be a 
conflict of interest. The Clerk to the Panel informed the meeting that this matter had been 
raised with the county council’s Monitoring Officer who had clarified that there was no 
conflict of interest.

2. APPOINTMENT OF A DEPUTY POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER - 
CONFIRMATION HEARING 

2.1 The Panel had received all the documentation required by legislation ahead of the meeting. 

2.2 The Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) informed the Panel that the role of the PCC 
was wide ranging and that a Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner (DPCC), with their 
own distinct priorities was required. The PCC also stated that it was expected that the 
DPCC role would be mandated in Phase 2 of the review of PCCs. 

2.3 The PCC informed the Panel that out of 12 applications, 4 had been short listed, and that 
Mr Nick Evans was the strongest candidate. Mr Evans had an outstanding CV, and had 
stood out from the other candidates. The PCC hoped that the Panel would support this 
appointment. As required by legislation the appointment had been brought to the Panel 
ahead of an announcement in the local media. 

2.4 Mr Evans informed the Panel that the he had worked for 15 years predominantly in the 
public sector, had always been driven by public service and a desire to serve the 
community. He stated that he had a breadth of professional and voluntary experience that 
he could bring to the role. He had also been a Special Constable. He felt that the role of 
DPCC improved transparency with regard to the role of the PCC. 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

2.5 He supported the PCC’s public health approach to policing and wanted Gloucestershire to 
be an exemplar in this area. It would be important to identify the right intervention at the 
right time. Mr Evans felt that his unique blend of experience and skills would enable him to 
bring people together.

2.6 It was questioned whether Mr Evans would continue in his role as a District Councillor, did 
he perceive there to be any conflicts between the roles? (NB. Regulations did not preclude 
an elected member from this role.) Mr Evans stated that he had taken advice from the 
FoDDC Monitoring Officer and would declare an interest at meetings if appropriate to do 
so. He did not want his actions to undermine the PCC or the OPCC and would remove 
himself from any situation where he thought there was the potential for this to happen. He 
felt that his role as a district councillor would add value to his role as DPCC.

2.7 Panel members welcomed the attendance of Nick Evans at the meeting and his willingness 
to engage with and respond to their questions. Members were impressed with his 
enthusiasm for the role. In considering the recruitment process the Panel agreed that this 
had been managed competently, and that the candidate met the criteria.

2.8 The Panel was therefore pleased to confirm the appointment of Nick Evans to the post of 
Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner for Gloucestershire.

3. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
The Panel agreed that it was not necessary to enter an exempt session.

4. PANEL DISCUSSION 
Please see minute 2.

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 12:56

Page 6



 
Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

  
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

DRAFT Gloucestershire Police & Crime Prevention Plan 

2021-2025 

Working together for a safer, stronger Gloucestershire  

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

2 

 

 
 

Contents 
 

Our Plan on a page .......................................................................................................... 3 

Foreword by PCC Chris Nelson ....................................................................................... 4 

 

The role of the Police & Crime Commissioner and the Police & Crime Prevention Plan .. 5 

     ‘Police’ and ‘Crime’ ...................................................................................................... 5 

     The Police and Crime Prevention Plan ....................................................................... 5 

     Due regard .................................................................................................................. 5 

     Golden threads ............................................................................................................ 8 

     “MRE3” ........................................................................................................................ 9 

 

Priority 1: Reduce anti-social behaviour and neighbourhood crime and increase feelings 
of safety ......................................................................................................................... 11 

Priority 2: A strong, visible and responsive policing family ............................................. 14 

Priority 3: A Criminal Justice System that supports victims and reduces reoffending .... 17 

Priority 4: A focus on vulnerability and victimisation ....................................................... 21 

Priority 5: Empowering our local communities ............................................................... 24 

 

Delivering the Plan ......................................................................................................... 29 

 

Page 8



Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

3 

 

Our Plan on a page 

P
age 9



Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

4 

 

 

Foreword 
 
To follow in final draft and to reflect public consultation. 
 
 
 

 
 

Chris Nelson 

Police and Crime Commissioner 

  

Page 10



Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

5 

 

The role of the Police & Crime Commissioner and the 
Police & Crime Prevention Plan 
 

‘Police’ and ‘Crime’  

As your Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC), you have elected me to be your voice, 
as residents of Gloucestershire, and hold the Chief Constable to account for the delivery 
of efficient and effective policing.  I will do this by: 
• Setting the strategic direction for policing 
• Holding the Chief Constable to account for the delivery of local policing 
• Publishing a Police and Crime Prevention Plan 
• Setting the force budget and precept 
• Commissioning services and awarding grants and 
• Appointing the Chief Constable. 
 
PCCs have wider responsibilities beyond their remit for crime that also include engaging 
with communities to ensure the public’s policing needs are met effectively and to oversee 
how the police and other organisations are tackling crime in Gloucestershire.  This 
includes monitoring the whole Criminal Justice System (CJS) and being accountable for 
how the CJS and partner agencies work together to keep Gloucestershire safe and 
feeling safe. 
 
The role and responsibilities of Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs) are distinct from 
Chief Constables who are responsible for the control, direction and delivery of operational 
policing for the force area. 
 

The Police and Crime Prevention Plan 

This, my first Police and Crime Prevention Plan, sets the strategic direction for the Office 
of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC), Gloucestershire Constabulary and other 
partners. I will use it to hold the Constabulary to account for its delivery in keeping our 
communities safe, to direct use of resources, for scrutinising the use of public monies and 
to ensure we are all working together for a safer Gloucestershire. 
 
It sets out what we are going to deliver, how we are going to deliver, and how we - and 
most importantly the public - will know when we have delivered.    
 
Working to achieve community safety is not the sole responsibility of Gloucestershire 
Constabulary.  This Plan provides a framework for the OPCC’s activities and how we can 
empower local people and partners to work with us to help deliver our stated outcomes 
and tackle our priorities together. 
 
My Plan will be reviewed annually to make sure that we continue to meet the needs of 
our communities as we work to keep people safe and feeling safe.  
 

Due regard 

While the Plan is naturally focused on the priorities 
identified by Gloucestershire residents, it is vitally 
important that it also reflects national threats.  It is 

Page 11



Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

6 

 

for this reason that the Plan has due regard for the Strategic Policing Requirement (SPR).  
 
The SPR is issued by the Home Secretary and requires that forces must be equipped to 
deal with:  

 
 
Other key national documents and strategies are reflected in this Plan including the new 
Beating Crime Plan, launched by HM Government in July 2021 and the National Police 
Chiefs’ Council’s (NPCC) Policing Vision 2025.   
 
The Beating Crime Plan sets out the Government’s ambition to increase trust in the CJS 
with a targeted approach to beat crime by focusing on three key areas: 
• Cutting homicide, serious violent crime and neighbourhood crime.  These crimes 

impact communities the most and can have a devastating, long-lasting impact.  By 
focusing on these offences, the Government is indicating the importance of individual 
and community safety in a strong, thriving society. 

• Exposing and ending hidden harms and prosecuting perpetrators.  This focuses on 
those crimes that are hidden from public view and often ‘behind closed doors’ such as 
domestic abuse, child sexual exploitation, rape and other sexual violence.   

• Building capability and capacity to deal with fraud and online crime.  Fraud and cyber 
related offences now make up over 50% of all crime and include attempts not only to 
defraud businesses and individuals of finances, but also includes spreading hate, 
selling illegal goods and by abusers taking their behaviour online. 

 
Success of the Plan will, in part, be measured by the newly introduced National Crime 
and Policing Measures, introduced in March 2021 and reported regularly on the OPCC 
website.   
 

National Crime & Policing Measures 

Priority area National metrics Data source 

Reduce murder and other 
homicide 

Homicide Police recorded 

Reduce serious violence 

Hospital admissions of under 25s 
for assault with a sharp object 

NHS 

Offences involving discharge of a 
firearm 

Police recorded 

Disrupt supply and 
county lines 

Drug related homicides Police recorded 

Police referrals into drug treatment 
Public Health 
England 

Reduce neighbourhood 
crime 

Burglary, robbery, theft of and from 
a vehicle, theft from a person 

CSEW1 

Improve satisfaction 
among victims, with a 

Satisfaction with police among 
victims of domestic abuse 

CSEW 

                                                      
1 Crime Survey of England and Wales 

Page 12

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strategic-policing-requirement
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/beating-crime-plan
https://www.npcc.police.uk/documents/Policing%20Vision.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/beating-crime-plan
https://www.northwales-pcc.gov.uk/Document-Library/Information/Publication-Scheme/What-are-priorities-are-and-how-we-are-doing/National-Priorities/Crime-and-Policing-Minister-Letter-to-PCCs-National-Crime-and-Policing-Measures-14-March-2021.pdf
https://www.northwales-pcc.gov.uk/Document-Library/Information/Publication-Scheme/What-are-priorities-are-and-how-we-are-doing/National-Priorities/Crime-and-Policing-Minister-Letter-to-PCCs-National-Crime-and-Policing-Measures-14-March-2021.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/


Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

7 

 

National Crime & Policing Measures 

Priority area National metrics Data source 

Particular focus on 
victims of domestic abuse Victim satisfaction with the police CSEW 

Tackle cyber crime 

Confidence in the law enforcement 
response to cyber crime 

Department for 
Digital, Culture, 
Media and Sport 
survey 

Percentage of businesses 
experiencing a cyber-breach or 
attack 

 
Policing Vision 2025 was published in 2016 and set out the policing plan for the following 
decade with an eye on transformation and value for money. It focuses on: 
• Local policing with the delivery of public protection being informed by community 

priorities and robust evidence-based demand analysis 
• Specialist capabilities that are available to support communities quickly and are able 

to adapt to emerging crime types 
• A workforce that is strong, confident and accountable and reflective of the 

communities they serve 
• Improved digital policing to support communication with the public and criminal justice 

agencies with better use of digital intelligence 
• Joined-up service delivery with partner agencies, with the aim of improving overall 

community safety.  
 
In March 2021, the Home Secretary announced the conclusion of part one of the Police & 
Crime Commissioner review and the plan for part two of the review.   
 
Part one identified additional responsibilities for PCCs around transparency with regards 
to performance and holding to account.  It included a new Information Specification Order 
that requires PCCs to publish performance against the new National Crime and Policing 
Measures as well as responses to HMICFRS (Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary 
and Fire & Rescue Services) inspection reports and IOPC (Independent Office for Police 
Conduct) police complaints performance updates.   
 
This expanding remit will be explored further under part two of the review with regards to 
offender management arrangements and leadership responsibilities in relation to 
Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs) and Local Criminal Justice Boards (LCJBs).    
 
CSPs are statutory local partnerships, operating at a district level with the role of 
preventing crime and anti-social behaviour and include, as responsible authorities, local 
councils, health partners and the Fire & Rescue Service. There are six CSPs across 
Gloucestershire – one for each district: 
• Cheltenham Borough Community 

Safety Partnership 
• Cotswold District Community Safety 

Partnership  
• Forest of Dean Community Safety 

Partnership 

• Safer Stronger Gloucester Partnership 
• Stroud District Community safety 

Partnership 
• Tewkesbury Borough Community 

Safety Partnership  

Page 13

https://www.npcc.police.uk/documents/Policing%20Vision.pdf
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2021-03-16/debates/21031653000006/PoliceAndCrimeCommissionerReviewConcludingPartOne
https://hansard.parliament.uk/Commons/2021-03-16/debates/21031653000006/PoliceAndCrimeCommissionerReviewConcludingPartOne
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/part-2-of-the-police-and-crime-commissioner-review
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/
https://www.policeconduct.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/2010-to-2015-government-policy-crime-prevention/2010-to-2015-government-policy-crime-prevention#appendix-4-community-safety-partnerships
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/criminal-justice-board
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/info/62/community_safety_and_crime
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/info/62/community_safety_and_crime
https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/communities-and-leisure/community-safety/community-safety-partnership/
https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/communities-and-leisure/community-safety/community-safety-partnership/
https://www.fdean.gov.uk/communities-health-and-leisure/community-safety/community-safety-partnership/
https://www.fdean.gov.uk/communities-health-and-leisure/community-safety/community-safety-partnership/
https://www.gloucester.gov.uk/community-living/community-safety-crime/stronger-safer-gloucester-partnership/
https://www.stroud.gov.uk/community-and-living/community-safety-and-neighbourhood-wardens
https://www.stroud.gov.uk/community-and-living/community-safety-and-neighbourhood-wardens
https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/community-safety
https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/community-safety


Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

8 

 

The local CSPs are supported by an umbrella partnership of local agencies called Safer 
Gloucestershire.  The relationship between the CSPs and Safer Gloucestershire is one 
which acknowledges that many of our key challenges are best tackled by agencies 
structured at a county level.  Safer Gloucestershire is funded and administered by 
Gloucestershire OPCC and chaired by the Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner, 
Nick Evans.
 
LCJBs are partnerships that bring together criminal justice leaders to maintain oversight 
of the system and promote a collaborative approach to addressing its challenges.  
Gloucestershire Local Criminal Justice Board is managed by Gloucestershire OPCC and 
has a number of delivery groups that have the overarching aim of reducing reoffending 
and improving the Criminal Justice System for victims.   
 
 

Golden threads 

There are a number of themes running through this 
Plan that link across all priorities and ambitions.   
 
Firstly, a public health approach to policing.  
Articulated in the College of Policing document Public 
Health Approaches in Policing there are five core 
elements that make up this approach: 
• Looking at the whole population of Gloucestershire 
• Seek to understand and address the ‘causes of the causes’ of crime and anti-social 

behaviour 
• Use prevention and early intervention to reduce crime, so that there are fewer victims 

and communities stay safe. 
• Intelligent use of data and evidence base  
• Partnership working across agencies and communities 
 
This approach is driven by data and recognises that 80% of demand in policing is linked 
to vulnerability. It also shows that 80% of offending is reoffending and that the later an 
intervention is adopted, the higher it will cost and less likely it is to be effective.2  For a 
Public Health approach to work in our County, good partnership relationships across 
agencies is crucial, so this will be a key focus for our plan, powered by an ethos of 
working with communities rather than doing to.   
 
Acknowledging that in order to tackle crime sustainably we must focus on addressing the 
causes of crime, means it’s important to understand how Adverse Childhood Experiences 
(ACEs) can have a fundamental impact on future violence, victimisation and perpetration, 
as well as the lifelong health and opportunity of an individual.    
 
As such, I fully support the Constabulary’s drive to be a trauma informed organisation and 
will continue to support this learning across all areas within my responsibility and sharing 
this work across our partners in Gloucestershire, such as through the County Council’s 
Health and Wellbeing board.  
 

                                                      
2 https://www.leics.pcc.police.uk/Document-Library/About-Us/PCC-briefing-pack-2016/College-of-Policing-
Incoming-Demand.pdf 

Page 14

https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/priorities/safer-gloucestershire/
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/priorities/safer-gloucestershire/
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/countys-new-deputy-pcc-passes-panel-test/
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/criminal-justice-board
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/the-office-of-the-opcc/#1552997098529-aa053c86-acc0
https://www.college.police.uk/about/public-health
https://www.college.police.uk/about/public-health
https://www.actionaces.org/


Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

9 

 

We also need to be innovative in how we deal with offenders, using evidence of what 
works to reduce crime. This includes restorative practices, championed by organisations 
such as the Centre for Justice and Reconciliation which can: 
 

1. Substantially reduce repeat offending for some offenders 
2. Reduce repeat offending among adults and youths 
3. Doubles (or more) the offences brought to justice as diversions from criminal justice, 
4. When used as a diversion, helps reduce the costs of criminal justice 
5. Provide victims with more satisfaction that justice has been done, and within a shorter 

time period than traditional criminal justice 
6. Reduces crime victims' post-traumatic stress symptoms and the related costs 
7. Reduces crime victims' desire for violent revenge against their offenders. 
 
It is for these reasons that my next ‘golden thread’ is to champion restorative practices.  
This will be supported by the positive work delivered by Restorative Gloucestershire (RG) 
which is recognised as one of the leading restorative practice approaches in the UK.   
 
Linked to restorative approaches, this Plan recognises the positive influence 
Gloucestershire’s Children First initiative has been shown to have on diverting children 
and young people away from the CJS. Avoiding criminalising young people helps improve 
their life chances and avoids them being stuck in a cycle of crime. Children First aims to 
progressively replace criminalising sanctions with restorative practice approaches where 
appropriate. 
 
Children First links nicely to my next ‘golden thread’ which is to embrace the ethos of 
Child Friendly Gloucestershire and to put children and young people at the heart of what 
we do.  This means asking, valuing and acting on what young people tell us is important 
to them, particularly with regards to their actual and perceived safety, but also by working 
with Future Me Gloucestershire to help shape policies and practices in the future.  
 
My last ‘golden thread’ is an accessible police force that is built on the foundations of a 
strong neighbourhood policing model which reflects the community it serves.  After all, we 
must never forget the founding principle of policing in the UK, which is as true today is it 
was when Sir Robert Peel said it in 1829: “The Police are the Public; the Public are the 
Police”.   
 

“MRE3” 

Finally “MRE3”.  This is an easy mnemonic for me 
to remember and helps remind me of my key 
priorities.  It comes from my time with the American 
military in the First Gulf War and it originally stood 
for Meals Ready to Eat!  For this purpose though, 
MRE3 is an additional commitment from me, your 
PCC.  It stands for:  
• Manifesto; delivering on the promises I made in 

my election campaign and the mandate on 
which I was elected.   

• Resources; putting every available pound into 
improving our Constabulary, tackling crime and 
anti-social behaviour and promoting community 
safety. 

Page 15

http://restorativejustice.org/restorative-justice/about-restorative-justice/tutorial-intro-to-restorative-justice/lesson-6-benefits-of-restorative-justice/#sthash.0FERp5Cu.dpbs
http://www.restorativegloucestershire.co.uk/
http://www.restorativegloucestershire.co.uk/children-first-initiative/
https://childfriendlygloucestershire.com/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-learning/post-16/future-me/
https://www.google.com/search?safe=active&rlz=1C1GCEB_enGB930GB930&q=mnemonic&spell=1&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwjHvvmY9LXyAhXVoVwKHXK_BQAQkeECKAB6BAgBEDM


Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

10 

 

• Exemplar; making Gloucestershire Constabulary lead the way nationally in as many 
ways as possible, setting standards for other forces to follow – whether as the safest 
county in the country in tackling rural crime, investigative standards or engaging and 
working with communities in real, grassroots partnerships.  

• 3 years; to get all this done, and deliver my pledges and this plan in my term of office. 
 

Page 16



Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

11 

 

Priority 1: Reduce anti-social behaviour and neighbourhood crime 

and increase feelings of safety 

 
I have spent a great deal of time talking to 
residents in Gloucestershire, and it is clear that 
being and feeling safe, are absolute priorities. 
When you don’t feel safe, it can affect your quality 
of life and how connected you feel to your 
community.  Conversely, if you feel safe in your 
community, it builds civic pride and improves 
everything from the local environment to your own 
personal health. 
 
It is for this reason that relentlessly tackling anti-
social behaviour and neighbourhood crimes was a 
manifesto pledge and is my first Police and Crime Prevention Plan priority.  I want 
Gloucestershire to be the safest county in the country and it is for that reason that I have 
set my sights on an ambitious 50% reduction in neighbourhood crimes and anti-social 
behaviour.   
 
We can only crack down on crime by tackling its causes, and that means taking a 
partnership approach, working across the County to make the most appropriate 
interventions.  This is the concept at the heart of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 which 
acknowledges in law that community safety is everyone’s business and all of us in the 
public sector have a vested interest in working with communities to promote safer, 
stronger neighbourhoods. 
 
Using this Act as a lever, I want to support the fantastic work done by local Community 
Safety Partnerships (CSPs) and see more joined up county-wide activity, including with 
our local parish and town councils, to improve community safety and tackle concerns in 
our communities.   
 
Concerns like persistent anti-social behaviour can have a big adverse impact on 
residents’ quality of life. That’s why I am reaching out to partners to ensure that we take a 
‘One Gloucestershire’ approach and do all that we can collectively to respond to 
community concerns and reduce neighbourhood crime. 
 
To this end, I would like to explore opportunities with partners to broaden best practice 
across the county under the already established Solace banner. This scheme has already 
proven to be effective and brings together all of the different agencies and bodies 
involved to intervene early and stop problems from escalating.  
 
This is how I see my zero- tolerance approach to anti-social behaviour (ASB) developing.  
No incident or offence is low-level or inconsequential, but receives the right intervention 
early on from the appropriate agency and gives the public confidence that we care about 
our communities.  
 
When incidents do occur I want to make sure that we have the best support in place via 
our victims’ services.  Through my office, we commission support for victims of antisocial 
behaviour as well as crime, and a bespoke service for young victims delivered by Victim 

Page 17

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/37/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/2010-to-2015-government-policy-crime-prevention/2010-to-2015-government-policy-crime-prevention#appendix-4-community-safety-partnerships
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/2010-to-2015-government-policy-crime-prevention/2010-to-2015-government-policy-crime-prevention#appendix-4-community-safety-partnerships
https://twitter.com/project_solace?lang=en
https://www.victimsupport.org.uk/resources/gloucestershire/


Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

12 

 

Support.  That service includes working with partners such as housing providers and 
Local Authorities, as well as the police, to provide the best service possible for our victims 
and I remain committed to this approach as we move on. Where this doesn’t work, I will 
encourage and oversee the use of the Community Trigger to make sure that victims are 
getting the response they need.  
 
Making sure that our residents feel safe, is just as important to me.  So I am 
commissioning work to understand why communities feel unsafe - or why there is a lack 
of confidence in the police and partners in tackling crime and anti-social behaviour.   
 
We will only help people feel safe, and give Gloucestershire’s residents the confidence 
that we are doing all we can to keep them safe, if we prioritise the crimes they are most 
worried about.  
 

Measurement Success 

• Constabulary VCOP 
compliance data 

• Compliance with the Victims’ Code (VCOP)  

• Constabulary Crime Data 
Integrity (CDI) information 

• Percentage increase in CDI compliance  

• Constabulary and Local 
Authority ASB data 

• Reduction in anti-social behaviour reported to 
the police and Local Authorities: 
• Abandoned 

vehicles 
• Excessive noise 
• Fly tipping 
• Fly posting  
• Illegal parking 

• Illegal use of 
scooters 

• Anti-social 
neighbours 

• Unauthorised 
encampments 

 

• Constabulary crime data • Reduction in neighbourhood crimes: 
• Residential 

burglary 
• Robbery 
• Theft of and from 

a vehicle 
• Theft from a 

person 

• Pet theft 
• Criminal damage 
• Arson 
• Theft of a bicycle 
 

 

• Constabulary customer 
satisfaction survey data 

• Improved victim satisfaction with the police 
service 

• Constabulary victims’ data • Reduction in repeat victimisation 

• Victim Support data • Reduction in self-referrals to Victim Support  

• Crime Survey of England & 
Wales 

• Improved confidence in local agencies in 
tackling crime and anti-social behaviour 

• Local perception and 
confidence survey (OPCC) 

• Improved confidence in local agencies in 
tackling crime and anti-social behaviour 

• Constabulary RTC data  • Reduction in number of killed and seriously 
injured on the road 

• HMICFRS PEEL inspection 
reports 

• Positive PEEL assessment by HMICFRS  

 

How we will deliver 

• Being present and listening to people. Listening to our communities to focus 
attention on the crimes which have the greatest impact on them 

Page 18

https://www.victimsupport.org.uk/resources/gloucestershire/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/anti-social-behaviour-asb-case-review-also-known-as-the-community-trigger
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-code-of-practice-for-victims-of-crime


Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

13 

 

How we will deliver 

• Understanding our communities. Monitoring levels of crime and anti-social 
behaviour and ensuring that the police and partners are tackling them 

• Working together. Working with partners and building the response to crime and 
ASB in our communities by working with not to, so that we have the best chance for 
sustainable change 

• Improving our services. Evaluating policies, practices, and performance to ensure 
that we are constantly improving the way we work to provide local services that the 
public have confidence in 

• Providing resources. Supporting and resourcing community initiatives that divert 
people away from criminal behaviour, particularly supporting young people, and 
helping to build safer and stronger local communities 

• Providing resources and improving visibility. Protecting frontline policing, enhancing 
community safety through volunteers and providing resources for the police to 
deter, detect and deal with criminals 

• Meeting the needs of Gloucestershire residents.  Using contract development and 
monitoring to ensure the right service is delivered to Gloucestershire residents 

 
 
  

Page 19



Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

14 

 

Priority 2: A strong, visible and responsive policing family 
 
As your Police and Crime Commissioner, I will do all that I 
can to ensure the right level of funding is available for the 
Chief Constable to deliver the ambitions of this plan and 
to meet the needs of future policing challenges.  This 
means lobbying Government, applying for additional 
funds via grants and, of course, identifying efficiencies 
within existing budgets that can be diverted to support 
frontline policing activity. 
 
This also means tapping into the wealth of support the community has for our 
Constabulary and harnessing this through volunteer and support opportunities within 
Gloucestershire’s policing family. 
 
My mission, during my time in office, is to improve accessibility, visibility, investigative 
standards and engagement of the Constabulary by enhancing the deployable strength of 
the Force.  My manifesto spoke about recruiting additional police and volunteers and I 
remain 100% committed to achieving this. 
 
Through the Government’s Beating Crime Plan, Gloucestershire will receive an additional 
150 Police Constables as part of the national commitment to recruit an additional 20,000 
officers across the UK. I am going to go further than this and set an ambitious target of 
300 extra personnel into our Constabulary. I am pleased to say that I have already begun 
this work.  
 
On top of this, I want to reach out to our communities with the support of parish and town 
councils to encourage local people to support the Constabulary through volunteering 
opportunities such as becoming a local member of the Special Constabulary or a 
volunteer PCSO. 
 
Of course, the public also need to have confidence that when they contact police there 
will be someone there to answer their call, or deal with their web enquiry. During my 
campaign, dissatisfaction about our 101 service was raised with me over and over again.  
 
The service that Gloucestershire provides at the moment is simply not good enough. We 
are letting down the public and our hardworking staff by not investing in 101 or in 
maintaining contact with victims following a report of crime.  I want to be sure that we are 
not missing vital information from victims and witnesses who may be frustrated by an 
inability to make and maintain contact with our Constabulary.  These are, in fact, some of 
the fundamental principles of the Victims’ Code (more details in priority three) for which I 
have responsibility for holding the Chief Constable to account.  
 
Over the period of this plan I am therefore committed to improving the policies, 
technology and practices relating to police contact in all its many forms so that the public 
can rely on our capacity, capability and the service that the Constabulary provides them.   
 
It is my vision that the deployable strength of the force is reinforced beyond the additional 
warranted officers and that improvements in public contact are realised that will benefit 
the service provided to Gloucestershire residents overall.  This includes: 

Page 20

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/beating-crime-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-code-of-practice-for-victims-of-crime


Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

15 

 

• modernising the workforce so that if a role is best suited to a trained, specialist staff 
member, that’s who does it, enabling police officers to return to the frontline 

• supporting investment in new technology, particularly if it reduces bureaucracy or 
supports investigations such as the gathering of mobile phone evidence and  
additional ANPR (Automatic Number Plate Recognition) cameras 

• increasing the number of ways that the public can contact the Constabulary if it is not 
an emergency, including improving our response to 101 

• supporting the development of apprenticeships across all areas of the Constabulary  
• supporting and enhancing the work already underway by the Chief Constable to 

promote wellbeing and reduce staff sickness, and  
• exploring collaborative and innovative commissioning opportunities with our partners 

to provide more cohesive, cost efficient and effective services to communities and 
victims. 

 
I also want officers to be more visible to the public, particularly in our rural, isolated 
communities.  I will do this through estate collaboration with other public sector partners 
such as Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service and also through partnership working 
with parish, town and district councils supported by the additional police volunteers. 
 

Measurement Success 

• Constabulary VCOP 
compliance data 

• Compliance with the Victims’ Code (VCOP)  

• Constabulary Crime Data 
Integrity (CDI) information 

• Percentage increase in CDI compliance  

• Constabulary personnel data  • Increased number of deployable staff within the 
Constabulary  

• Improved diversity of staff within the 
Constabulary 

• Increased use of apprenticeships across the 
Constabulary 

• Constabulary Citizens in 
Policing (CiP) data 

• Increase in volunteering hours by recruiting 150 
volunteer PCSOs and Special Constabulary 
officers 

• Constabulary Force Control 
data 

• Improvements in call answering times 
particularly for 101 in the Force Control Room 

• Constabulary customer 
satisfaction survey data 

• Improved victim satisfaction with the police 
service 

• Crime Survey of England & 
Wales 

• Improved confidence in local police 

• Local perception and 
confidence survey (OPCC) 

• Improved confidence in local agencies in 
tackling crime and anti-social behaviour 

• Improved visibility of the Constabulary, 
particularly within neighbourhoods 

• OPCC/Constabulary budget 
monitoring 

• Successful funding applications (OPCC and 
Constabulary) 

• HMICFRS PEEL inspection 
reports 

• Positive PEEL assessment by HMICFRS  

• Commissioned services data • Satisfaction levels of the police among service 
users of our commissioned services 

 

How we will deliver 

• Delivering an efficient and effective force, as determined by HMICFRS 

Page 21

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-code-of-practice-for-victims-of-crime


Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

16 

 

How we will deliver 

• Identifying and applying for funding opportunities for the Constabulary and partners 
to help in the reduction of crime and antisocial behaviour and to support innovation 
in policing and community safety  

• Increasing deployability of Constabulary staff and officers through wellbeing and 
workforce modernisation 

• Developing volunteer opportunities within the Constabulary and increasing the 
number of volunteer hours delivered 

• Working with partners to identify opportunities for future collaboration 
• Being present and listening to people. Listening to our communities to focus 

attention on the crimes which have the greatest impact on them 
• Understanding our communities. Monitoring levels of crime and anti-social 

behaviour and ensuring that the police and partners are tackling them 
• Improving our services. Evaluating policies, practices, and performance to ensure 

that we are constantly improving the way we work to provide local services that the 
public have confidence in 

• Providing resources and improving visibility. Protecting frontline policing, enhancing 
community safety through volunteers and providing resources for the police to 
deter, detect and deal with criminals 

• Continually seeking to improve technology.  Ensuring our contracts are robust while 
delivering value for money and always with an eye to the future. 

 
 

  

Page 22



Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

17 

 

Priority 3: A Criminal Justice System that supports victims and 

reduces reoffending 

 

Most people know my role as focusing on policing 
and holding the Constabulary to account via the 
Chief Constable, but my responsibilities don’t stop 
there.  I am the Police and Crime Commissioner 
and I intend to do all that I can to improve people’s 
experiences within the Criminal Justice System 
(CJS) in Gloucestershire.  This includes doing all I 
can to support swift justice for victims and witnesses 
– an issue of particular importance in the pandemic 
recovery.  
 
Crime is a societal issue that can only really be prevented through agencies and 
communities working together.  But when an offence does occur, other agencies are 
involved and this jigsaw of services needs to work together to ensure the correct 
outcomes for offenders and victims.   
 
I will continue to hold the Chief Constable to account for the police part of the jigsaw – in 
particular in raising investigative standards through improved capacity and capabilities.  
Through the support of my Office, I will also use my position as chair of the 
Gloucestershire Local Criminal Justice Board to bring other services together to meet the 
needs of the county as best they can.    
 
A large proportion of offences are committed by people who have previously been 
convicted of a crime, and it is my job to always remember the huge impact the actions of 
these criminals have on victims and wider communities.  
 
However, if we can stop these people from reoffending by following national and 
international best practice, making the appropriate interventions at the right time and 
working with partners and local services to support their needs, then we will cut crime in 
the longer term.  
 
Offenders are more likely to have lived through adverse childhood experiences, less likely 
to be registered with a GP or dentist, more likely to have attempted suicide and misuse 
drugs and/or alcohol, more likely to have truanted and been excluded from school, lack 
basic numeracy, reading and writing skills, more likely to be in debt and less likely to have 
settled accommodation.  I firmly believe all local services have a responsibility to do all 
that they can to be mindful of, and address, these inequalities – the underlying causes of 
crime – and this concerted, joined-up action will lead to sustained reductions in crime and 
victimisation.  This is the public health approach to tackling crime and anti-social 
behaviour that I advocate.  
 
I want to see a considered approach in dealing with offenders where rehabilitation is built 
around what works and with the best interests of all individuals involved. For example, 
that includes supporting ongoing activity led by the Constabulary in looking at alternative 
rehabilitation solutions for female offenders.   
 

Page 23

https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/criminal-justice-board


Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

18 

 

My Office is responsible for the commissioning of victims’ services in the county and we 
will always take an evidence-led approach to this, basing any service provision on the 
identified needs of local people.  This includes working with our county’s diverse 
communities to increase reporting and access to support services. Placing the voice of 
victims at the heart of any policy or commissioning development to learn from their 
experiences to continually improve services.  Commissioned victims’ services include 
more general victim support as well as more specialised services such as those for 
victims of rape and sexual and domestic abuse.   
 
Since coming in to office, I have been very impressed with the work of Restorative 
Gloucestershire and want to see this effective, problem-solving approach promoted and 
expanded.  As well as providing an important experience for victims, restorative justice 
can have a dramatic and positive impact on the lives of offenders. Offenders will be given 
the opportunity, if the victim agrees, to come face to face with the person they have 
caused harm. Agencies can refer offenders to Restorative Gloucestershire and 
restorative justice can be used alongside the criminal justice process.  
 
Finally, I fully support the Government’s plan to create legal rights for victims through the 
Victims’ Code (VCOP), and want Gloucestershire Constabulary to be an exemplar in its 
implementation.  The 12 over-arching rights are: 
 

1. To be able to understand and be understood 
2. To have the details of the crime recorded without unjustified delay 
3. To be provided with information when reporting the crime 
4. To be referred to victim support services and have services and support tailored to 

your needs 
5. To be provided with information about compensation 
6. To be provided with information about the investigation and prosecution 
7. To make a Victim Personal Statement 
8. To be given information about the trial, trial process and your role as a witness 
9. To be given information about the outcome of the case and any appeals 
10. To be paid expenses and have property returned 
11. To be given information about the offender following a conviction 
12. To make a complaint about rights not being met. 
 
Ensuring that the Constabulary and other CJ partners meet their statutory obligations with 
regards the VCOP will be a priority of mine and my Office throughout the life of this Plan. 
 

Measurement Success 

• Constabulary VCOP 
compliance data 

• Compliance with the Victims’ Code (VCOP)  

• Constabulary Crime Data 
Integrity (CDI) information 

• Percentage increase in CDI compliance  

• Constabulary customer 
satisfaction survey data 

• Improved victim satisfaction with the police 
service 

• Improved victim satisfaction with the police and 
CJ agencies 

• Crime Survey of England & 
Wales 

• Improved confidence with the police and 
Criminal Justice agencies 

• Local perception and 
confidence survey (OPCC) 

• Improved confidence with the police and 
Criminal Justice agencies 

Page 24

http://www.restorativegloucestershire.co.uk/
http://www.restorativegloucestershire.co.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-code-of-practice-for-victims-of-crime
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-code-of-practice-for-victims-of-crime


Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

19 

 

Measurement Success 

• Constabulary victims data • Reduced victimisation and, in particular, repeat 
victimisation 

• Reoffending rates available to 
the Gloucestershire Criminal 
Justice Board 

• Reduced offending and seriousness of 
offending 

• Integrated Offender 
Management (IOM), Multi-
Agency Risk Assessment 
Conference (MARAC) and 
Multi-Agency Public 
Protection Arrangements 
(MAPPA) data via 
Gloucestershire Constabulary 

• Reduced offending and seriousness of 
offending 

• Data available to LCJB from 
partner agencies 

• Improved access to services for offenders with 
regards to pathways out of offending (for 
example access to accommodation, reduced 
harmful substance misuse, access to 
employment, training and education, etc.) 

• Public Health England • Police referrals into drug treatment 

• First-Time Entrants (FTE) to 
the CJS available to the 
Gloucestershire Criminal 
Justice Board from Youth 
Offending Services 

• Reduction in FTE to the CJS 

• Outcomes rate data from 
Gloucestershire Constabulary 

• Improved outcomes rate for offences reported 
to the Constabulary 

• OPCC contract monitoring 
information relating to 
commissioned victims’ 
services 

• High satisfaction rates among service users of 
local commissioned victims’ services 

• Restorative Gloucestershire 
data 

• Successful delivery of restorative practices 
delivered by Restorative Gloucestershire and 
particularly by the Children First initiative.  

• Out of Court disposals – in 
particular with regards to 
Children First 

• Increased proportion of out of court disposals  

• Public Health England • Police referrals into drug treatment services 

• HMICFRS PEEL inspection 
reports 

• Positive PEEL assessment by HMICFRS  

 

How we will deliver 

• Preventing and intervening earlier. Identifying and implementing best practice to 
reduce crime and anti-social behaviour in Gloucestershire, starting with a focus on 
prevention, intervention and desistance at the earliest opportunity, especially for 
young people 

• Restorative approaches.  Through continued support of Restorative Gloucestershire 
and Children First, improving outcomes for offenders and victims 

• Working in partnership. Working with partners to develop and progress a criminal 
justice recovery plan, learning from adapted business models to ensure new 
working practices are more efficient and effective than before, using the response to 
Covid-19 as a catalyst for change 

Page 25



Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

20 

 

How we will deliver 

• Working together. Utilise and share new and existing data to understand the 
demands faced by the criminal justice system locally. We will use this to inform 
future activity in order to deliver a criminal justice service which supports and 
provides outcomes for victims and helps rehabilitate offenders 

• Improving our services to ensure VCOP compliance. Through partnership efforts, 
continue to engage those involved in the criminal justice system, keeping them 
informed and supported in appropriate and effective ways, helping to maximise the 
chances of justice being achieved for victims, witnesses, offenders, and 
communities 

• Proactive community engagement. Listening to the needs of vulnerable people and 
victims of crime to support their journey in the criminal justice system 

• Provide and pool resources. Wherever possible, and where a need is identified, 
work together with criminal justice partners to improve local provision and services 
such as with the delivery of a Nightingale Court on the Constabulary estate 

 

  

Page 26



Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

21 

 

Priority 4: A focus on vulnerability and victimisation 

 
I want to make sure that victims of crime are at the 
centre of this plan, which is why they feature in two of 
my priorities.  
 
This commitment includes the identification, protection 
and support of those people who are at the greatest risk 
of becoming victims of crime, or indeed victims of 
criminalisation.  
 
A focus on vulnerability and victimisation must include focusing on those crimes that are 
disproportionately suffered by particular groups.  Offences here include domestic abuse, 
hate crime, sexual offences, Child Sexual Exploitation and Child Criminal Exploitation and 
modern day slavery.   
 
I am pleased to see that the national Beating Crime Plan includes the specific ambition to 
expose hidden harms and perpetrators of these types of offences, and I will do all that I 
can to raise awareness in communities and schools about risk and prevention, working 
with partners to find solutions and improve the criminal justice outcomes for all.  I will 
therefore use my position to hold the Chief Constable to account and ensure VCOP 
compliance for all Criminal Justice agencies through the LCJB, as well as ensuring 
investigative excellence, proper victim and witness support and, ultimately, more 
convictions.   
 
Improving our collective awareness and understanding of the factors that increase 
vulnerability is essential to the prevention of harm.  In doing this, the OPCC, Constabulary 
and partners are better equipped to identify and support those most at risk of these 
serious offences.  At its worst, harm can result in death, with almost 80% of homicide 
victims killed by their current or former partner3.   
 
I have already mentioned the importance of being ‘trauma informed’ and understanding 
the impact Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) can have on future criminality and 
victimisation.  It is recognised that crimes such as domestic and sexual abuse are among 
the most harmful and damaging in terms of their effects on both victims and witnesses 
(often children and young people).  It is essential therefore that those agencies that have 
the ability and responsibility to do so, do all that they can to support early identification 
and then channel resources to support early intervention and safeguard against potential 
victimisation.  This is the public health approach to tackling crime I want to see across all 
of my priorities.   
 
I am committed to working with the police, partners and local communities to improve our 
knowledge of what works and help empower victims to speak out against abuse and 
violence in order to prevent criminal exploitation by organised criminal gangs as well as 
providing effective and accessible specialist support services.  It is for this reason that I 
am committed to continue allocating resources to the Commissioner’s Fund particularly 
where the link between intervention and crime reduction is evidenced.  This may extend 
to commissioning new services with partners where the need is identified.  It is also why I 

                                                      
3 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-49481998 - DN: Can we cite he actual research please, rather than the 
news article.  

Page 27

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/beating-crime-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-code-of-practice-for-victims-of-crime
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/criminal-justice-board
https://www.actionaces.org/
https://www.college.police.uk/about/public-health


Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

22 

 

am committed to championing best practice. Improving victims’ experience of the criminal 
justice system is vital because a negative experience of the CJS can be nearly as 
devastating as the incident itself.   
 
I will also use my convening powers to work with partners to continually improve 
safeguarding arrangements in the county for both children and young people as well as 
adults and continue to support victims outside of the CJS through commissioned 
services.  To this end, I fully support the anticipated Victims of Crime (Rights, 
Entitlements, and Notification of Child Sexual Abuse) Bill.  
 

Measurement Success 

• Constabulary VCOP 
compliance data 

• Compliance with the Victims’ Code (VCOP)  

• Constabulary Crime Data 
Integrity (CDI) information 

• Percentage increase in CDI compliance  

• OPCC contract monitoring 
information relating to 
commissioned victims’ 
services 

• High satisfaction rates among service users of 
locally commissioned victims’ services 

• Constabulary customer 
satisfaction survey data 

• Improved victim satisfaction with the police 
service 

• Improved victim satisfaction with the police and 
CJ agencies 

• Crime Survey of England & 
Wales 

• Improved confidence with the police and 
Criminal Justice agencies 

• Constabulary crime data 
relating to VAWG, repeat 
victimisation and exploitation 
and vulnerability referrals 

• Increase reporting of (and confidence to report) 
incidents of domestic and sexual abuse and 
child exploitation  

• Reoffending rates available to 
the Gloucestershire Criminal 
Justice Board 

• Reduced offending and seriousness of 
offending 

• Constabulary Crime Data • Reduction in murder and other homicides 
including drug related  

• Reduction in serious violent crime 

• NHS data • Hospital admissions of u25s for assault with a 
sharp object 

• Public Health England • Police referrals into drug treatment 

• Constabulary customer 
satisfaction survey data 

• Improved victim satisfaction with the police with 
a particular focus on domestic abuse 

•  

• Constabulary victims data • Reduced victimisation and, in particular, repeat 
victimisation 

• Constabulary VIST data • Improved and utilised multi-agency 
safeguarding processes 

•  

• Outcomes rate data from 
Gloucestershire Constabulary 

• Improved outcomes rate for offences reported 
to the Constabulary 

• HMICFRS PEEL inspection 
reports 

• Positive PEEL assessment by HMICFRS  

 

Page 28

https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/2576
https://bills.parliament.uk/bills/2576
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-code-of-practice-for-victims-of-crime


Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

23 

 

How we will deliver 

• Improving our services. Evaluating policies, practices, and performance to ensure 
that we are constantly improving the way we work to provide local services that the 
public have confidence in. This should include providing additional support for those 
with vulnerabilities during their journey through the criminal justice system, and 
listening to the experiences of vulnerable people to improve the support that we 
offer 

• Providing resources. Supporting and resourcing community initiatives that divert 
people away from criminal behaviour, particularly supporting young people, and 
helping to build safer and stronger local communities 

• Listening to people and, in particular, victim / survivors. Understanding experiences 
and using them to improve agency knowledge, policies, practices and contracts  

• Broaden our understanding.  Work with all sectors including researchers and 
commissioned specialists to deepen our understanding of the factors that increase 
the risk and vulnerability of individuals and communities 

• Working together. Encouraging statutory and non-statutory partners to work 
together to develop and strengthen our collective safeguarding efforts whether with 
regards to victimisation or criminalisation 

• Preventing and intervening earlier. Exploring evidence-based initiatives and 
opportunities to safeguard vulnerable people at the earliest opportunity and - if 
necessary - create, commission, or promote pathways of support to agencies who 
can help though the Commissioner’s Fund 

• Improving our services. Identifying and sharing good practice across local and 
regional partner organisations, to improve our overall response and engender 
confidence in the whole system. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 29



Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

24 

 

Priority 5: Empowering our local communities 

 
Empowering communities is, for me, about finding every 
opportunity to work with people, to identify issues early and 
prioritise them, so that we can find practical solutions to 
tackle these problems as partners.   
 
I will always be driven by evidence, but that doesn’t always 
have to be data.   
 
What communities tell us is important to them – even if the 
volume data isn’t there – must be a priority if I am really 
able to demonstrate that I have been elected to represent the public in policing.  After all, 
feelings of safety and confidence in those responsible for keeping us safe, will only 
improve if crimes communities tell us are causing them harm, are prioritised.  
 
For this reason, this priority is most likely to evolve over the period of this Plan, however, 
there are a number of fundamentals that I am, and will remain, committed to.  These are: 
• Reaching out.  During my time in office I will invest effort and resources to get out into 

your communities and build relationships.  This will include regular roadshows with 
parish and town councils in partnership with the Chief Constable and my Deputy 
Police and Crime Commissioner, as well as weekend engagements with as many 
communities as possible  

• Improving our understanding.  This will be achieved through the introduction of a 
regular representative survey of local people’s feelings, fears, confidence and 
satisfaction in the way agencies tackle crime and anti-social behaviour in 
Gloucestershire.  My Office will be able to benchmark this against similar national 
surveys and use this to develop plans and evaluate our future activity as well as 
monitor changes over time and this will be used to support planning with our local 
CSPs  

• Acting on what we hear.  My Office will look into any concerns you raise to try to find a 
solution.  This may require working with another agency or using the Commissioner’s 
Fund to catalyse additional activity. Again, this is the public health approach to 
policing in action, using early intervention and prevention to solve problems. It also 
includes listening to the experience of victims and ensuring that what they tell us 
influences policies and practices in the future, creating a cycle of constant 
improvement.  

• Feeding back.  I see this approach as a continual cycle where your ability to raise 
concerns is just as important as hearing what has happened.  I want to build an open 
relationship with communities where my Office, the Constabulary and I are seen as 
active partners with communities where we show the positive impact that working 
together has on strengthening our county and making it safer.  

 
In order that I carry out the many functions of my role, I often need the support of 
volunteers such as with the Independent Custody Visitors.   Independent Custody Visiting 
(ICV) schemes exist to provide assurance to local communities that they can have 
confidence in the way in which the police treat people who are held in their custody. 
Ensuring effective management and oversight of the ICV Scheme is a statutory 
responsibility of the PCC.   
 

Page 30

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/2010-to-2015-government-policy-crime-prevention/2010-to-2015-government-policy-crime-prevention#appendix-4-community-safety-partnerships
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/gloucestershire-icv-scheme/


Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

25 

 

In my time in office I will continue to support the development of the ICV scheme in 
Gloucestershire as an excellent method of scrutiny of Constabulary functions and 
practices.  I also want to expand this form of scrutiny to other areas of business.  I 
support the development of the Animal Welfare Scheme which allows independent 
members of the public to visit police dog training centres, accommodation and police 
stations to observe, comment and report on the conditions under which police dogs are 
housed, trained and transported.  
 
I am also keen to progress further opportunities for volunteers to support scrutiny such as 
with complaints.  Under my leadership my office will develop a panel of local people, 
reflective of our diverse communities, to help review how complaints are managed within 
the Constabulary and OPCC.  The panel will assess complaints for efficiency, fairness, 
transparency and service to the public.  Their aim will be to ‘act as a critical friend’ by 
providing feedback on completed complaint files to the OPCC and the Constabulary’s 
Professional Standards Department (PSD) to ensure the police maintain a high quality 
approach to complaints which focuses on accountability, transparency and learning. 
 

Acting on Community Concerns 

During my election campaign, I built-up a good knowledge of the issues that concern 
Gloucestershire’s residents. While the measures I have already outlined will act as a 
check to make sure I don’t miss any new or emerging concerns, I am taking action on the 
priorities that you have already raised with me on the doorstep. I want to list those here 
so that you, the public, can hold me to account in the future in how I am delivering on 
your priorities. 
 

1. Road safety 

Time and time again communities have told me about concerns relating to road safety, 
particularly with persistent and problem speeding.  Working with our parish and town 
councils I am committed to finding sustainable solutions that a) act as a deterrent and b) 
support enforcement of the most dangerous and persistent offenders.  I want to see more 
community volunteer Speed Watch schemes and support local councils in utilising 
technology like low-cost speed monitoring devices and / or high end ANPR (Automatic 
Number Plate Recognition) cameras for evidence gathering, and my Office will facilitate 
this. 
 

2. Pet theft 

According to CrimeStoppers, pet theft has risen by almost a fifth during lockdown4 and 
this is certainly one area that generates much debate with members of the public.  The 
loss of a family pet can be devastating but so too can be the fear of losing their pet.  In 
fact, in a recent national survey carried out by the PCC for Sussex, more than three 
quarters of the 124,729 respondents said they are more scared of walking their pet 
because of the heightened risk that it will be stolen.5 
 
It is for this reason that I have already launched the “Doggy DNA” scheme in 
Gloucestershire – a world first in pet theft prevention.  It is also the reason I am part of a 
national Government Pet Theft Task Force.  The Taskforce has been established to  
understand the factors that may be contributing to any perceived rise in thefts and to 

                                                      
4 https://crimestoppers-uk.org/campaigns-media/campaigns/dog-theft  
5 https://www.apccs.police.uk/latest-news/strong-support-for-changing-the-law-to-reflect-the-emotional-
impact-of-having-a-pet-stolen/  

Page 31

https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/paw-some-news-for-police-dog-welfare-scheme-as-volunteers-start-training/
https://www.gloucestershire.police.uk/advice/advice-and-information/wsi/watch-schemes-initiatives/road-safety-awareness-schemes/road-safety-awareness-schemes/
https://crimestoppers-uk.org/
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/worlds-first-force-to-launch-doggy-dna/
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/taskforce-launched-to-investigate-reported-rise-in-pet-thefts
https://crimestoppers-uk.org/campaigns-media/campaigns/dog-theft
https://www.apccs.police.uk/latest-news/strong-support-for-changing-the-law-to-reflect-the-emotional-impact-of-having-a-pet-stolen/
https://www.apccs.police.uk/latest-news/strong-support-for-changing-the-law-to-reflect-the-emotional-impact-of-having-a-pet-stolen/


Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

26 

 

recommend any necessary measures to tackle the problem, recommendations that I will 
be bringing straight back to Gloucestershire. 
 
I will also be holding the Chief Constable to account for the way pet thefts are 
investigated and how victims are supported.     
 

3. Internet and phone scams and fraud 

Internet (or cyber enabled) crime and fraud offences now make up over 50% of all crime 
and are very often targeted at vulnerable communities such as the elderly as well as our 
business community.   
 
Tapping into the knowledge and advice offered by organisations like the National Cyber 
Security Centre, I want to make sure that we do all that we can to support victims and 
prevent such crimes occurring in the first place.  To do this, I will use my Office to seek 
best practice and to liaise with relevant partners locally, regionally and nationally to 
understand the problem and deal with it better. 
 

4. Retail and business crime 

Supporting businesses, particularly as we recover from the pandemic, is clearly a priority 
for us all.  During my time in office I want to develop a close working relationship with 
businesses to understand how those of us with responsibilities to reduce crime and 
disorder can work in partnership with local businesses in the future. 
 
I am really keen to explore, for example, how the benefits of the City Safe scheme in 
Gloucester could be expanded across the county and how my Office can facilitate this.   
 
I want to build on the learning already gathered by the OPCC about areas for 
improvement with regards to retail crime reporting and put this into action and I want to 
ensure any focus on phone and internet scams includes businesses as victims as well as 
householders.  
 
I also want to understand the nature and scale of the problem of violence against shop 
workers and use my position to progress the recommendations contained in the recent 
Home Affairs Select Committee report into Violence and abuse towards retail workers.    
 

5. Rural, wildlife and heritage crime 

As a predominantly rural county, we must never underestimate the impact that rural crime 
can have on our communities and the fear that can be engendered when crime strikes in 
isolated areas.  This is one of the loudest messages I heard during my campaign and it is 
why tackling rural crime was one of my manifesto pledges.    
 
It is vitally important that we, the OPCC and Constabulary, understand the impact rural 
isolation can have on victims as well as the harm crimes like poaching and hare coursing 
can have on our environment and rural businesses.  One of my early commitments as 
PCC was to speak at the Rural, Wildlife and Heritage Crime Workshop, hosted by 
Gloucestershire Constabulary, where listening to the real stories from victims of crime 
had a profound effect on me. These victims encountered everything from theft of fuel and 
property to finding slaughtered animals on their properties for online bets and receiving 
threats against them and their families.  I will not accept this sort of lawlessness in our 
county.   

Page 32

https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/guidance/suspicious-email-actions
https://www.ncsc.gov.uk/guidance/suspicious-email-actions
https://gloucestercitysafe.co.uk/
https://committees.parliament.uk/publications/6463/documents/70506/default/
https://twitter.com/HeritageCrime/status/1407998830025531395
https://www.gloucestershirelive.co.uk/news/cheltenham-news/police-label-hare-coursers-thugs-4633651


Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

27 

 

 
Since coming to office I have been very encouraged to learn more about the 
Constabulary’s Rural Crime Team, how they engage and work with rural communities 
with the use of social media and other tools at their disposal including drones and quad 
bikes to tackle criminal and anti-social behaviour.  I am especially encouraged to hear 
how Gloucestershire Constabulary is leading the way for other Forces with officers often 
asked to support training regionally and nationally.   
 
I want to build on these strong foundations.  It’s essential we recognise that organised 
criminality is often behind rural, wildlife and heritage crime. I have already used my 
position as your PCC to stress this to the Regional Organised Crime Unit and will 
continue to do so at every opportunity.   
 
I will also do all that I can to increase police visibility in our rural communities with the 
additional officers and volunteers I pledge to bring into the Constabulary in partnership 
with parish and town councils. Finally, and as I have already said, I want to explore more 
innovative use of public owned buildings to provide places of contact for members of the 
public to engage with the police.  I will work with partners, including Gloucestershire Fire 
and Rescue Service, to explore how and where we can develop shared emergency 
contact points particularly in our more rural and isolated communities and encourage 
other organisations to come forward to offer similar facilities.  
 
 

Measurement Success 

• Constabulary VCOP 
compliance data 

• Compliance with the Victims’ Code (VCOP)  

• Constabulary Crime Data 
Integrity (CDI) information 

• Percentage increase in CDI compliance  

• Constabulary crime and ASB 
data 

• Reduction in reports of speeding and anti-social 
driving 

• Constabulary RTC data  • Reduction in number of killed and seriously 
injured on the road 

• Constabulary and Local 
Authority ASB data 

• Reduction in neighbourhood crime and anti-
social behaviour reported to the police and 
Local Authorities 

• Constabulary crime data • Reduction in rural, wildlife and heritage crimes 
• Reduction in neighbourhood crimes in rural 

areas 
• Reduction in business crimes 
• Reduction in shop lifting 
• Reduction in attacks against shop workers 

• Constabulary customer 
satisfaction survey data 

• Improved victim satisfaction with the police 

• Crime Survey of England & 
Wales 

• Improved confidence in local agencies in 
tackling crime and anti-social behaviour 

• Local perception and 
confidence survey (OPCC) 

• Improved confidence in local agencies in 
tackling crime and anti-social behaviour 

• Department for Digital, 
Culture, Media and Sport 
survey 

• Confidence in the law enforcement response to 
cyber crime 

• Percentage of businesses experiencing a 
cyber-breach or attack 

Page 33

https://twitter.com/GlosPol_Rural?ref_src=twsrc%5Egoogle%7Ctwcamp%5Eserp%7Ctwgr%5Eauthor
https://mobile.twitter.com/GlosPol_Rural/status/1383027911456825348
https://twitter.com/GlosPol_Rural/status/1365676324753469443
https://twitter.com/GlosPol_Rural/status/1365676324753469443
https://www.swrocu.police.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-code-of-practice-for-victims-of-crime


Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

28 

 

Measurement Success 

• OPCC volunteer data • Increase in volunteers working with the OPCC 

• HMICFRS PEEL inspection 
reports 

• Positive PEEL assessment by HMICFRS  

 

How we will deliver 

• Being present and listening to people. Listening to our communities to focus 
attention on the crimes which have the greatest impact on them through roadshows, 
consultation and engagement 

• Understanding our communities. Monitoring levels of crime and anti-social 
behaviour and ensuring that the police and partners intervene early to prevent crime 
and prevent escalation 

• Working together. Working with partners and building the response to crime and 
ASB in our communities by working with communities, not doing to them so that 
they have ownership and create the best chance for sustainable change 

• Improving our services. Evaluating policies, practices, and performance to ensure 
that we are constantly improving the way we work to provide local services that the 
public have confidence in 

• Providing resources. Supporting and resourcing community initiatives that divert 
people away from criminal behaviour, particularly supporting young people, and 
helping to build safer and stronger local communities 

• Providing resources and improving visibility. Enhancing frontline policing, improving 
community safety through volunteers and providing resources for the police to 
deter, detect and deal with criminals 

• Building networks.  Working with local, regional and national partners to improve the 
service we offer to the public and make it greater than the sum of its parts. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 34



Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED 

 

29 

 

Delivering the Plan 
 
Under each priority listed in this plan there is a list of how we will 
measure success and how we will deliver.  These are indicative 
only, as under each priority my Office will develop delivery plans 
with action-owners, milestones and - where applicable and 
available - baseline measurements and targets. These will be 
implemented and monitored through my Office and with partners 
including Gloucestershire LCJB, Safer Gloucestershire and the 
Health and Wellbeing Board.  The plans will be informed and 
scrutinised by the Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel.  
 
Once developed, these delivery pans will be published alongside this Plan on the OPCC 
website.   
 

 

 

 

Page 35

https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/criminal-justice-board
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/priorities/safer-gloucestershire/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/gloucestershire-health-and-wellbeing-board/about-the-board/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/joint-ventures/gloucestershire-police-and-crime-panel/
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



DRAFT Gloucestershire Police 
& Crime Prevention Plan

2021-2025

Working together for a safer, 
stronger Gloucestershire

P
age 37



Our Plan on a page

P
age 38



Golden threads

• Public health approach to policing i.e. seeking to understand and 
address the ‘causes of the causes of crime’

• Adverse Childhood Experiences
• Trauma informed

• Restorative practices
• Commitment to Restorative Gloucestershire
• Commitment to Children First

• Child Friendly Gloucestershire
• Seek to put children and young people at the heart of what we do

• Neighbourhood policing
• “The police are the public and the public are the police”

P
age 39



MRE3

• Manifesto
• Delivering on the promises made in the PCC election 

campaign

• Resources
• Putting resources into improving the Constabulary, 

tackling crime and anti-social behaviour and promoting 
community safety

• Exemplar
• Setting standards for other forces to follow 

• 3 years
• Term of office

P
age 40



Priority 1: Reduce anti-social behaviour and 
neighbourhood crime and increase feelings of safety

• Tackling neighbourhood crime and ASB

• Working in partnership with local 
Community Safety Partnerships

• Explore county wide approaches to 
tackling ASB

• Support for victims including the use of 
the Community Trigger

• Focus on feelings of safety and 
understanding why people feel unsafe

Neighbourhood crime* Anti-social behaviour*

• Residential burglary

• Robbery

• Theft of and from a 

vehicle

• Theft from a person

• Pet theft

• Criminal damage

• Arson

• Theft of a bicycle

• Abandoned vehicles

• Excessive noise

• Fly tipping

• Fly posting 

• Illegal parking

• Illegal use of scooters

• Anti-social neighbours

• Unauthorised 

encampments

* Indicative list only

P
age 41



Priority 2: A strong, visible and responsive policing 
family

• Maximise existing and potential funding to improve standards and 
deployable strength

• Improved deployable strength:
• More staff, more volunteers
• Workforce modernisation
• Investment in technology to reduce bureaucracy 
• Development of apprenticeships 
• Wellbeing support
• Collaboration

• Investment in the Force Control Room – staff, technology and processes

• Improved visibility 

P
age 42



Priority 3: A Criminal Justice System that supports 
victims and reduces reoffending

• Swift justice

• Improved outcomes for victims, witnesses and 
offenders

• Reduced reoffending

• Services for victims that meet the needs of 
Gloucestershire residents

• Expansion of Restorative Gloucestershire

• Commitment and prioritisation of Victims’ Code

P
age 43



Priority 4: A focus on vulnerability and victimisation

• Public health and trauma informed approaches

• Identification and protection of those at risk of victimisation 
and criminalisation

• Focus on those crimes disproportionately suffered by 
particular groups:

• Domestic abuse

• Sexual offences

• Child sexual exploitation

• Child criminal exploitation

• Modern day slavery

• Victim empowerment and support

• Adult and child safeguarding 

P
age 44



Priority 5: Empowering our local communities

• Community engagement:
• Reaching out

• Improving our understanding

• Acting on what we hear

• Feeding back

• Improving legitimacy and transparency through scrutiny

• Acting on community concerns:
• Road safety

• Pet theft

• Internet and phone scams and fraud

• Retail and business crime

• Rural, wildlife and heritage crime

P
age 45



Delivering the Plan

• Development of delivery plans to turn the Plan 
into action

• Measurements of success

• Performance framework

• Monitored by peers

• Transparent

• Police & Crime Panel scrutiny

P
age 46



Measurement 

• 26,387 ASB incidents 

(+3%) *

• 39,386 recorded crime  

/ 61.48 crimes per 1000 

population  (-4%) / 5/8 in 

MSG and  7/42 in 

England & Wales **

• 49% / 7/8 MSG agree 

police and local 

council are dealing 

with ASB and crime in 

local area ***

• 37% / 7/8 experienced 

or witnesses ASB in 

local area ***

• 267,188 calls received

12m to Jul 21 (-2%) 

~730 a day *

• Average time at 

emergency scene

approx. 1.7 hrs (+6%) *

• Initial Contact 

feedback 2020 (Vehicle 

and ASB) 77% said call 

was answered within a 

reasonable time. 83% 

said the person spoken 

to explained what would 

happen next *

• Victim Satisfaction 

survey                  

Burglary: 81%          

Violent crime: 80%                

Hate crime: 84% *

• Three year average 

repeat victimisation

753 (within ‘normal’ 

range) ****

• Recidivism three year 

average (Number of 

named offenders who 

commit an additional 

crime within 12 months): 

160 (within ‘normal’ 

range) ****

• Victim satisfaction 

survey - DA 12 months 

up to June 2021 87.7% 

satisfaction with whole 

experience * 

• 7,284 mental health

incidents (+28%) *

• 479 racially / 

religiously aggravated 

offences 0.75 crimes 

per 1000 population 

(+28%) 7/8 in MSG **

• 1500 sexual offences

2.34 crimes per 1000 

population (+19%) 3/8 in 

MSG **

• 47.7% / 8/8 MSG 

Perception that police 

deal with community 

concerns ***

• 58.7% / 3/8 MSG 

Perception that the 

police do a good or 

excellent job ***

• Crimes tagged as 

‘rural crime’ three year 

average 11.44 per 

month (within ‘normal’ 

range) *****

• 792 (-37.9%) Road 

related offences ******

* Constabulary quarterly performance headlines compared to previous year, up to July 2021 

** iQuanta data up to the end of July 2021 

*** Crime Survey of England & Wales, March 2020

**** Constabulary Performance Improvement Meeting update, July 2021

***** Gloucestershire Constabulary SAS Performance Dashboards, August 2021

****** Gloucestershire Constabulary MIS data, August 2021

P
age 47



Feedback:
ruth.greenwood@gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk

Thank you

P
age 48



 

Briefing Note 

Police & Crime Panel – e-scooters 

OPCC, September 2021 
 

 

House of Commons Library 
 https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-8958/ 
 

Regulating electric scooters (e-scooters) 
Research Briefing 
Published Wednesday, 01 September, 2021 
 
Documents to download 
Regulating Electric Scooters (E-scooters) (259 KB, PDF) 

 
 
Legal status of e-scooters 
While it is legal to buy or sell an e-scooter (classed as a battery-powered personal 
transport device), riding them on public roads, pavements or cycle lanes is against the law. 
Riders could face a £300 fine and six points on their licence if they use them on public 
roads or pavements. Riding e-scooters on private land is legal with the landowner’s 
permission. 
 
The Electric Scooter Trials and Traffic Signs (Coronavirus) Regulations and General 
Directions 2020 (SI 2020/663) provide the legislative basis for the e-scooter trials. They 
define ‘e-scooters’ and amend road traffic regulations to exempt e-scooters being used in 
a trial from certain requirements of the Road Traffic Act 1988. Even in local authority areas 
which decide to run trials, it will still be illegal to ride a privately owned (non-trial) e-scooter 
on public roads, pavements or cycle lanes. 
 
E-scooters: Transport policy panacea or street menace? 
Views differ on the potential benefits and problems presented by e-scooters. Some believe 
that they offer solutions to a wide range of transport policy goals (such as reducing 
pollution, congestion), while others believe that they are potentially dangerous and may 
undermine messaging about active travel and green transport. 
Three of the key issues are: 
 

 Journey replacement for cars, public transport and other modes: E-scooters could 
help cut congestion and improve air quality in urban areas. In cities that allow e-
scooters, it is not clear whether e-scooter trips have replaced car journeys. Rather, 
some are concerned they have replaced trips that would otherwise be walked, cycled, 
taken by kick scooters or by public transport. This would negate both the supposed 
congestion-alleviating benefits and could have negative health impacts, through 
reduced physical activity. 

 Tackling climate change: Proponents of e-scooters suggest they can help cut 
everyday carbon emissions by getting people out of their cars. However, several 
studies suggest the short lifespan of e-scooters means these carbon savings may be 
minimal, if achieved at all. 

Page 49

Agenda Item 6

https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-8958/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/663/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/663/contents/made
https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-8958/CBP-8958.pdf


 Safety concerns: Stakeholders have expressed concerns over: whether micromobility 
devices are physically robust and safe by design; whether users have the skills to use 
them safely; how they interact with other vehicles, road users and pedestrians; and 
how liability is handled when accidents occur. 
 

E-scooter rental trials, 2020- 
From 4 July 2020, local areas in England, Scotland and Wales have been able to 
undertake 12-month e-scooter rental trials, provided they meet DfTs requirements. The 
trial end date has been extended until March 2022. During the trials: 
 

 Rental e-scooters will be allowed on roads and cycle lanes, but will continue to be 
banned from pavements; 

 E-scooters will be limited to a maximum speed of 15.5 mph; 

 Riders should wear helmets, but they will not be mandatory; 

 Privately-owned e-scooters will remain illegal; and 

 Riders will need a full or provisional car, motorcycle or moped licence to use the 
devices, and they must be aged 16 or over. 

 
The trials will be used will to inform future government policy and possible legislative 
change. Trials have been launched in 32 trial areas across a mixture of towns, cities, local 
authorities and combined mayoral authority areas. The Transport Committee welcomed 
the Government’s e-scooter trials ahead of work to examine the legal status of e-scooters, 
which they said should draw on lessons from other countries so as to avoid potential 
negative impacts on pedestrians and disabled people. 
 
 

E-scooter trial in Gloucestershire  
 
From October 4 2020, the centres of Gloucester and Cheltenham have been part of a 
national trial of e-scooters.  The trial will be for a period of 12 months and trial areas are 
limited to restricted areas of the city and town centres only. 
 
The trial is in partnership with Zwings, a national provider for e-scooter and e-bike rental 
schemes.  Further information about the trial with Zwings in Gloucestershire can be found 
here: https://www.zwings.co.uk/faqs/gcc-faqs/  
 
People wanting to take part in the trial must be aged over 16, hold a valid or provisional 
driving license and must adhere to the Highway Code.  All e-scooters are GPS tracked 
and speed limits are in place. 
 
What does the council say? 
Former Cabinet member responsible for environment and transport Councillor Nigel Moor 
said: “E-scooters are an exciting step into the future of green travel options and I am 
thrilled Gloucester and Cheltenham have been chosen to host a Government trial. 
 
“I’m proud we are thinking outside of the box and looking at all options when it comes to 
carbon free transport. I hope residents, businesses and visitors will give it a try.” 

https://www.gloucestershirelive.co.uk/news/cheltenham-news/gloucestershires-e-scooter-trial-everything-4575862 

 
 
 

Page 50

https://www.zwings.co.uk/
https://www.zwings.co.uk/faqs/gcc-faqs/
https://www.gov.uk/browse/driving/highway-code-road-safety
https://www.gloucestershirelive.co.uk/news/cheltenham-news/gloucestershires-e-scooter-trial-everything-4575862


Gloucestershire Constabulary 
 

Advice on using e-scooters 
https://beta.gloucestershire.police.uk/advice/advice-and-information/rs/road-safety/advice-
escooters/  
 
What is an e-scooter? 
Electrical scooters (also known as e-scooters) come under the category of “powered 
transporters”. This also covers a range of other personal transport devices which are 
powered by a motor. 
 
“Powered transporters” fall within the legal definition of a motor vehicle under the Road 
Traffic Act 1988. Therefore, the rules that apply to motor vehicles, also apply to e-scooters. 
 
As a motor vehicle, they must comply with various pieces of Road Traffic Legislation, 
including but not limited to: 

 driving with a licence 

 driving/riding with insurance 

 driving/riding other than on a road 

 need to be taxed 
 
It is not currently possible to get appropriate insurance for privately owned e-scooters, 
meaning it is illegal to use them on the road or in public spaces. 
 
Rental e-scooter trials 
Trials of rental e-scooters are taking place in the UK. Any person who uses a rental e-
scooter on a public road or other public space, must comply with the relevant Road Traffic 
Legislation or they face potential prosecution. 
 
Legal use of an e-scooter 
It is legal to use an e-scooter on private land with the permission of the land owner. 
 
In areas where a trial rental scheme is running, it is legal to use a rental e-scooter on a 
public road or cycle lane. 
 
Enforcement 
The most appropriate action for the circumstances will be given, these include: 

 a Fixed Penalty Notice for no insurance, with a £300 fine and six penalty points 

 a Fixed Penalty Notice for no driving licence, up to £100 fine and three to six penalty 
points 

 
Rider behaviour 
Police will also take action against rider behaviour, whether private or rental. Offences 
could include: 

 riding on the footway: Fixed Penalty Notice and possible £50 fine 

 using a mobile phone: £100 and six penalty points 

 riding through red lights: Fixed Penalty Notice, £100 fine and possible penalty points 

 drink driving offences: As with driving cars; court imposed fines, driving ban and 
possible imprisonment 

 

Page 51

https://beta.gloucestershire.police.uk/advice/advice-and-information/rs/road-safety/advice-escooters/
https://beta.gloucestershire.police.uk/advice/advice-and-information/rs/road-safety/advice-escooters/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1988/52/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1988/52/contents
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/e-scooter-trials-guidance-for-users


If you are using an e-scooter in public in an anti-social manner, you can also risk the e-
scooter being seized under section 59 of the Police Reform Act. 
 
We would always recommend to wear safety protection such as a helmet when riding 
these vehicles, and to keep to the speed limit. 
 

E-scooter seizures from Gloucestershire Constabulary 
 
The table below shows the number of e-scooters seized as a result of use on roads up the 
end of July 2021: 
 

2021 
Number of e-scooters 

seized 

January 7 

February 7 

March 11 

April 12 

May 3 

June 14 

July 12 

 
 

Page 52

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/30/section/59


POLICE AND CRIME PANEL

WORK PLAN 2020

3 November 2021

4 February 2022 Proposed Gloucestershire Police Precept 2022/23

25 March 2021

1 July 2022  Appoint a Chair
 Appoint Vice Chair
 Commissioner’s Annual Report 

9 September 2022

4 November 2022

 Confirmatory hearings if required

To be considered: 
Timeline for Performance Reports
Budget working group
Cyber Crime
Children First
Safeguarding Children and Adults
PCC Review
Domestic Abuse
Complaints

Visits when Covid allows: -
Sabrina Centre
Force Control Room and Custody Suite

P
age 53

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes
	Minutes , 07/07/2021 (2) Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel

	5 Draft Police and Crime Plan
	DRAFT Police & Crime Prevention Plan

	6 E Scooters - The Gloucestershire Poistion
	8 Panel Workplan

